

NATIONAL & KAPODISTRIAN UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Vulnerability of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system in alpha-synuclein based animal models



"Molecular Biomedicine"

MSc thesis

Bogiongko Marios-Evangelos

Athens 2019

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the members of my committee Prof. Dr. Leonidas Stefanis, Dr. Panagiotis Politis and Dr. Maria Xilouri for supervising my thesis.

I would like to personally thank Prof. Dr. Leonidas Stefanis, professor of Neurology and Neurobiology at the National & Kapodistrian University of Athens and affiliated researcher and director of the Laboratory of neurodegenerative diseases, for providing me with the opportunity to perform my master's thesis in his lab in the biomedical research foundation academy of Athens and for providing valuable advice and guidance throughout my stay at his lab. His mentorship has benefited me greatly and his willingness to share his immense knowledge is truly appreciated.

Additionally, I would like to thank Dr. Maria Xilouri, Investigator at the biomedical research foundation academy of Athens for her valuable insights and advice as well as inspiring me to better myself. Special thanks to Dr. Alexia Polissidis for being an amazing mentor and a source of inspiration for me, throughout the last 2 years. Her patience, kind nature and enthusiasm have been catalytic for me and I cannot thank her enough. Furthermore, I would like to thank Panagiota Mavroeidi, MSc, for her tips and help in the lab, her support and for being an amazing lab member. I would like to extend my thanks to Dr. Athanasios Stavropoulos for his assistance in my experiments, Dr. Katerina Melachroinou for her advice, Dr. Marina Pantazopoulou and Dr. Hardy Rideout.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family for their constant and unwavering support, their faith in me and for providing me with the opportunity of attending this master's course and realizing my dreams. Above all however, I would like to thank my godfather Michalis Kiriakopoulos, my biggest source of inspiration, who may not be among us anymore but his spirit, teachings and words of wisdom will always echo in my mind.

Dedicated to Michalis,

Abstract

Animal models have provided us with a valuable translational tool to understand, diagnose and treat disease for many years. As far as Parkinson's disease (PD) goes, many animal models have been implemented in recent years, in order to elucidate and better understand the pathological mechanisms of degeneration as well as to test novel therapeutic strategies. Since its discovery as a constituent of Lewy Bodies (inclusions found in the surviving substantia nigra neurons of PD patients), α -synuclein (aSyn) has been the focus of countless studies, all aiming to better understand its role in the development of the disease. Thus, a great number of genetic animal models have been generated, most of which, however, fail to fully recapitulate the entire spectrum of pathology and symptoms that are present in PD.

In 2013, a novel study (Nuber et al.,2013) introduced a transgenic animal model (BAC aSyn rat) exhibiting all the features of an ideal model for the study of this disease: aggregation pathology, loss of dopaminergic system intergrity, and non-motor and motor behavioral deficits. However, after establishing a colony in our lab we witnessed a number of phenotypic differences in our animals (GR BAC rats) compared to what the initial study (DE BAC rats) had reported. This phenomenon drove us to investigate the reason behind these differences; from both a genetic and biochemical perspective as far as aSyn goes. Interestingly, differences in both the relative copy number of the human *SNCA* (aSyn gene) and the levels of the protein along the nigrostriatal axis can potentially explain the presence of these differences between the two groups.

Additionally, during the past decade mutations in the *GBA1* gene which encodes for glucocerebrosidase (GCase), a lysosomal enzyme responsible for the breakdown of lipids, have been labeled as the number one risk factor in developing PD. Current literature suggest an interplay between GCase and aSyn, thus our lab generated a novel murine "double-hit" viral model through striatal injection of viral vectors containing a microRNA sequence in order to downregulate GBA while at the same time overexpressing human aSyn. The aim of this project was to evaluate the temporal downregulation of GBA and investigate its effects on the nigrostriatal levels of aSyn. Our results suggest that 8 weeks is an appropriate time point for significant downregulation of GBA. Our findings also report and confirm that the downregulation of GBA leads to subsequent accumulation of human aSyn in both the striatum and the substantia nigra.

Our results indicate the suitability of the BAC aSyn rat as a tool for understanding the pre-motor phase of PD whereas the "double-hit" viral model is better suited for elucidating the mechanisms of degeneration and evaluating therapeutic strategies.

ΠΕΡΙΛΗΨΗ

Τα ζωικά μοντέλα έχουν αποτελέσει χρόνια τώρα καταλυτικό εργαλείο στην προσπάθεια για καλύτερη κατανόηση, διάγνωση και θεραπεία ασθενειών. Στην περίπτωση της νόσου Πάρκινσον (ΝΠ), πολλά διαφορετικά ζωικά μοντέλα έχουν αναπτυχθεί με στόχο την διαλεύκανση των παθολογικών μηχανισμών της νευροεκφύλισης αλλά και της δοκιμασίας νέων θεραπευτικών στρατηγικών. Από την στιγμή που βρέθηκε ότι η ασυνουκλεΐνη αποτελεί ένα από τα κύρια συστατικά των σωμάτων Lewy (πρωτεϊνικά έγκλειστα ευρισκόμενα στους επιζώντες νευρώνες της μέλαινας ουσίας σε ασθενείς ΝΠ μετά θανάτου, έχει μελετηθεί εκτενώς με στόχο την καλύτερη κατανόηση του ρόλου της στην εξέλιξη της ασθένειας. Ένας μεγάλος αριθμός γενετικών ζωικών μοντέλων έχει δημιουργεί με βάση την υπερέκφραση της α-συνουκλεΐνης, παρόλα αυτά η πλήρης αναπαραγωγή όλων των παθολογικών χαρακτηριστικών και συμπτωμάτων της νόσου δεν ήταν επιτυχής μέχρι στιγμής.

Το 2013, μία νέα έρευνα (Nuber et al., 2013) ανέφερε την δημιουργία ενός νέο διαγονιδιακού ζωικού μοντέλου (BAC α-συνουκλεΐνη επίμυες), το οποίο κατείχε όλα τα χαρακτηριστικά ενός ιδανικού μοντέλου για την μελέτη αυτής της ασθένειας όπως συσσώρευση της α-συνουκλεΐνης, μείωση των ντοπαμινεργικών νευρώνων στη μέλαινα ουσία και μη κινητικά και κινητικά ελλείματα . Όμως, κατόπιν δημιουργίας αποικίας στο εργαστήριό μας, υπήρχαν εμφανείς φαινοτυπικές διαφορές ανάμεσα στα ζώα της αποικίας μας και στα ζώα της αρχικής αποικίας, σύμφωνα με τα ευρήματα της έρευνάς μας. Αυτές οι διαφορές μας ώθησαν να διερευνησουμε το λόγο ύπαρξής τους, κυρίως από την γενετική και βιοχημική σκοπιά σε σχέση με την α-συνουκλεΐνη. Παρατηρήθηκε πως διαφορές στο σχετικό αριθμό αντιγράφων του ανθρώπινου γονιδίου της ασυνουκλεΐνης (*SNCA*) αλλα και στο φορτίο της πρωτεΐνης κατά μήκος της μελανοραβδωτής οδού, μπορούν να εξηγήσουν εν μέρει την ύπαρξη αυτών των διαφορών.

Στην συνέχεια, διερεύνησαμε ένα νέο μοντέλο συνουκλεϊνοπάθειας. Την τελευταία δεκαετία, μεταλλάξεις στο γονίδιο *GBA*1, που κωδικοποιοεί για μία λυσοσωμική πρωτεΐνη, τη γλυκοσερεβροσιδάση (GCase), υπεύθυνη για τον καταβολισμό σφιγγολιπιδίων, έχουν χαρακτηριστεί ώς ο κορυφαίος παράγοντας ρίσκου για την ανάπτυξη ΝΠ. Η πρόσφατη βιβλιογραφία υποθέτει την αλληλεπίδραση της λυσοσωμικής αυτής πρωτεΐνης (GCase) με την α-συνουκλεΐνη και για αυτόν τον λόγο ένα καινοτόμο ιικό μοντέλο "διπλού χτυπήματος" δημιουργήθηκε στο εργαστήριό μας, το οποίο μέσω της έγχυσης ιικών φορέων που φέρουν μία ακολουθία μίκροRNA, διαθέτει μειωμένη έκφραση του GBA και ταυτόχρονη υπερέκφραση της ανθρώπινης α-συνουκλεΐνης. Στόχος της έρευνας μας ήταν η χρονική εκτίμηση της μείωσης άυτής στα επίπεδα της α-συνουκλεΐνης στην μελανοραβδωτή οδό. Τα αποτελέσματα μας δείχνουν

το διάστημα των 8 εβδομάδων ως κατάλληλο για ικανοποιητική μείωση της έκφρασης του GCase και πως η μείωση αποτελεί παράγοντας που οδηγεί στη συσσώρευση της ασυνουκλεΐνης τόσο στο ραβδωτό όσο και στην μέλανα ουσία.

Συμπερασματικά, το ζωικό μοντέλο BAC aSyn αποτελεί ένα πολύτιμο εργαλείο για την μελέτη της προ-κινητικής φάσης της ΝΠ, ενώ το ιικό μοντέλο "διπλού χτυπήματος" είναι ιδανικό για την κατανόηση των μηχανισμών της εκφύλισης αλλά και την δοκιμασία και αξιολόγηση νέων θεραπευτικών στρατηγικών.

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1.1 PARKINSON'S DISEASE EPIDEMIOLOGY	1
1.1.2 CLINICAL SYMPTOMS OF PARKINSON'S DISEASE	1
1.1.3 PARKINSON'S DISEASE PATHOLOGY	2
1.2 A-SYNUCLEIN	4
1.3 PD ANIMAL MODELS	6
1.3.1.1 PD ANIMAL MODELS – NEUROTOXIN MODELS	6
1.3.1.2 PD ANIMAL MODELS – TRANSGENIC ANIMALS	7
1.3.1.2 A-SYNUCLEIN TRANSGENIC ANIMAL MODELS	7
1.4 BAC ASYN RATS	9
1.5.1 B-GLUCOCEREBROSIDASE	10
1.5.2 THE LINK BETWEEN PD AND GBA	11
1.5.3 MECHANISMS THROUGH WHICH GBA MAY CONTRIBUTE TO PD	12
1.5.4 GBA AND PD ANIMAL MODELS	12
1.6.1 PART I: A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF GENOTYPE-PHENOTYPE IN A HUMAN ALPHA SYNUCLEIN OVEREXPRESSION MODEL	15
1.6.2 PART II: A NOVEL "DOUBLE-HIT" MODEL OF GBA1 MICRO-RNA-MEDIATED DOWNREGULATION AND HUMAN A-SYNUCLEIN OVEREXPRESSION	15
2. MATERIALS & METHODS	16
2.1 ASYN BAC RAT COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS	16

2.2 ASSESSMENT OF NIGROSTRIATAL DOPAMINERGIC SYSTEM INTEGRITY IN A "DOUBLE HIT" MODEL OF GBA1 MICRORNA-MEDIATED DOWNREGULATION AND HUMAN A-SYNUCLEIN OVEREXPRESSION 17

3. RESULTS	22
3.1 A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF GENOTYPE-PHENOTYPE IN A HUMAN ALPHA SYNUCLEIN OVEREXPRESSION MODEL	22
3.1.1 GENETIC ANALYSIS	22
3.1.2 BIOCHEMICAL ANALYSIS	23
3.2. A NOVEL "DOUBLE-HIT" MODEL OF GBA1 MICRO-RNA-MEDIATED DOWNREGULATION AND HUMAN , SYNUCLEIN OVEREXPRESSION	A- 28
3.1.1 GCASE DOWNREGULATION AT 4 WEEKS POST SURGERY	28
3.1.2 GCASE DOWNREGULATION AT 8 WEEKS POST SURGERY	30
3.2.1 ACCUMULATION OF HUMAN A-SYNUCLEIN ALONG THE NIGROSTRIATAL AXIS AT 8 WPS	31
3.2.2 HUMAN A-SYNUCLEIN CDNA LEVELS	32
4. DISCUSSION	34

1. Introduction

1.1.1 Parkinson's disease epidemiology

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a progressive, neurodegenerative disorder, first described by Dr. James Parkinson in his work "An essay on the shaking palsy", in 1817. It is the second most frequent neurodegenerative disorder following Alzheimer's disease and it is currently estimated that 1-2 people per 1000 are affected by it. The risk of developing PD increases with age, as it is understood that approximately 1% of people above the age of 60 are affected by it (Tysnes et al., 2017), while for people over the age of 85 the percentage rises up to 3-5% (Alves et al., 2008; Gasser et al., 2009a). Moreover, it is predicted that due to the increase of the average life span, as stated by the World Health Organization, prevalence of PD is expected to rise (Cardoso et al., 2005). As of yet, no neuroprotective, disease-modifying treatments are available for patients.

1.1.2 Clinical symptoms of Parkinson's disease

The symptons of PD are classified into two categories: motor and non-motor symptoms. The hallmark features of the disease are the motor symptoms which include bradykinesia, resting tremor, rigidity and postural instability. Other motor symptoms include various postural abnormalities (such as camptorormia and Pisa syndrome), freezing of gait, festination, micrographia, hypomimia and more. These motor symptoms have been well characterized and current treatments aim to either slow down or ameliorate these motor symptoms with the use of drugs that stimulate the dopaminergic system.

The non-motor symptoms may not only precede the manifestation of motor symptoms, but also have not been characterized as extensively as the motor symptoms. Such symptoms include depression, sleep disorders, autonomous nervous system disorders and sensory organ disorders. The prevalence of these non-motor symptoms varies from patient to patient. However, given the fact that they often precede the onset of the disease, sometimes by 10 or even 15 years, the elucidation of their underlying neurobiology is of the outmost importance for early diagnosis as well as the employment of potential neuroprotective treatments at an early stage of the disease. A table with the most important non-motor symptom follows:

			1
Neuropsychiatric disorders	Sleep disorders	Autonomous nervous system disorders	Sensory organ disorders
Depression, apathy, anxiety	RBD (REM sleep behaviour disorder)	Heart: Orthostatic hypotension, bradycardia, arrhythmia	Olfactory deficit
Obsessive compulsive disorder	Insomnia	Digestive system: Salivation, dysfagia, nausea, constipation, stool incontinence	Pain
Attention disorder	Sleepiness during the day	Urinal system: urine incontinence, nocturia	Fatigue
Hallucinations/Delusions	Periodic limb movement	Reproductive system: sexual dysfunction, erectile dysfunction, hypersexuality	Weight fluctuations
Panic attacks	Nightmares	Thermoregulation: sweating, mouth dryness, intolerance to cold/hot temperatures	Paraesthesia
Dementia	Sleep apnea		

 Table 1: Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease.

1.1.3 Parkinson's disease pathology

The most characteristic pathological feature of PD is the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) (Forno et al., 1996). These neurons project axons to the striatum (i.e. the *putamen* and *caudate nucleus*). As a result of the neurodegeneration of these neurons, the nigrostriatal pathway is immediately affected, leading to the motor symptoms associated with PD (Jancovic et al., 2008, Johnson et al., 2009). Another significant pathological feature is the presence of cellular inclusions

called Lewy bodies or Lewy neurites. These inclusions consist mainly of misfolded insoluble α -synuclein fibrils (Spillantini et al., 1997) and are considered the hallmark pathological feature of PD. The link between α -synuclein and PD has been proven genetically (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Kruger et al., 1998; Singleton et al., 2003; Zarranz et al., 2004; Nalls et al., 2011), pathologically (Spillantini et al., 1997; Muntane et al.,2012) and biochemically (Cookson et al., 2005; Vekrellis et al., 2009, 2011) Specifically, duplication or triplacation of the *SNCA* locus has been found to directly lead to PD, as reported in Klein and Schlossmacher, 2006. The triplication cases in particular have been associated with an earlier age of onset, a more severe phenotype as well as rapid disease progression (Fuchs et al., 2007). In addition, a number of missense mutations have been identified- of which A53T is the most common one, as reported by Polymeroloulos et al., 1997.

Since α -synuclein is localized intracellularly, much research has focused on studying potential pathogenic mechanisms within the cell (Pacheco et al., 2012). However, recent data suggest that α -synuclein can also be secreted into the extracellular space (El-Agnaf, 2003; El-Agnaf, 2006, Emmanouilidou 2011). This finding suggests that α -synuclein may exhibit paracrine functions in PD pathology (Luk et al., 2009). Additionally, α -synuclein is known to easily form aggregates, which are stabilized through β -pleated sheet-like bonding (Uvensky et al., 2003). Initially, these aggregates are called oligomers but quite rapidly form heavily insoluble polymers which are termed fibrils. These aberrant forms of α -synuclein, and in particular the soluble oligomeric forms, were identified as the main culprit for the eventual cell death observed in Vekrellis et al., 2009; one of many reports supporting the fundamental role α -synuclein misfolding possesses in the pathogenesis and progression of PD.



Figure 1: Immunohistochemistry against α -synuclein (left) and ubiquitin (right) on a dopaminergic neuron of the substantia nigra pars compacta. The abundance of α -synuclein is clearly visible. (Image taken from Dauer and Przedborski et al., 2013)

As of yet, no direct correlation has been made regarding the etiology of PD, though ample evidence points towards both environment and genetic factors (Gasser et al., 2009b). There are two forms of PD: familial (approximately 5-10% of all cases have been reported as familial PD) and sporadic. Focusing on the genetics, α -synuclein (*SNCA*) was the first gene to ever be associated with the development of PD. Following this, many more genes have been linked to the disease, and some examples include: parkin (PARK2, Kitada et al., 1998), PTEN-induced kinase protein 1 (PINK1, Valente et al., 2004), DJ-1 (Bonifati et al., 2003) and LRRK2 (Corti et al., 2011). Heterozygous mutations in the gene encoding β -glucocerebrosidase (GBA) are considered the greatest genetic risk factor for developing PD (Sidransky et al., 2005; Sidransky and Lopez, 2012).

1.2 a-Synuclein

α-Synuclein is a member of the synuclein family, which also consists of β-Synuclein, γ-Synuclein and synoretin. Their sequence is highly conserved, however as of yet, their physiological role hasn't been completely elucidated. Current literature reports these proteins as having a role in the regulation of synaptic function (Cheng et al., 2011; Burré et al., 2015). On the contrary, α-synuclein's role in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases has been established; namely, PD, Multiple System Atrophy (MSA) and Dementia with Lew Bodies (DLB) (Dauer and Przedborski et al., 2003; McCann et al., 2014). As far as their structure goes, all members of the synuclein family share a common amino terminal, while their carboxyl terminal varies (Tofaris and Spillantini et al., 2005).

Focusing on α -synuclein, the locus of the gene (SNCA) is 4q21.3-q22 (Spillantini et al., 1996). The α -synuclein protein consists of 140 amino acids (George et al., 2002) it can be subdivided into 3 distinct sections: a conserved amphiphilic N-terminal, a hydrophobic central part and a final C-terminal. The amphiphilic N-terminal (residues 1-60) is highly conserved and can be found in either no particular conformation or as an α -helix, under specific conditions (George et al., 2002). Within this region, the motif KTKEGV is found seven times. This motif has been linked with the region's ability to form an α -helix as well as its ability to bind to lipids and synaptic vesicles. The central part of the protein is most commonly known as the Non Amyloid Component (NAC) (Vekrellis et al., 2004) and spans from residues 61-95. This name was given to this region of the protein because of its ability to change its confromation into a β -sheet, leading to the creation of fibrilar forms, resembling those of β -amyloid in Alzheimer's disease (Conway et al., 1998). Finally, the C-terminal, spanning from residues 96-140, has been associated with the protein's ability to act as a chaperone, thanks to the abundance of proline, glutamic and aspartic acid (Cookson et al., 2005).



Figure 2: Representation of the structure of α-synuclein and its three regions. On the left, the amphiphilic N-terminal can be seen, with the KTKEGV repeat. The NAC domain is illustrated with purple, in the middle, followed by the proline, glutamic and aspartic acid rich C-terminal. Below the structure, several residues have been marked. Mutations in these residues have been reported to increase the risk of developing PD (taken from Emanuel and Chieregatti, 2015)

The exact conformation of α -synuclein still remains an unanswered question. One study suggested that α -synuclein in vivo forms tetramers (Bartels et al., 2011). However, it has also been suggested that α -synuclein inside the Lewy bodies, present in patients

with PD, forms oligomers and aggregates. These oligomers and the various proteinprotein interactions that may occur, are thought to be involved in the pathogenesis of PD (Lashuel et al., 2013).



Figure 3: Suggested conformation of α -synuclein. It is evident that in this form, the protein exists as a tetramer. A-helices are represented as cylinders, with the first α -helix of each separate protein labeled with green and the second one labeled with blue. (Wang et al., 2011)

1.3 PD Animal Models

In order to better understand this complex neurodegenerative disease and its pathogenic mechanisms, many different animal models have been created over the last four decades.

The animal models that have been used in PD research can be divided into two groups: those using neurotoxins as a way to recapitulate the pathology and symptoms of the disease and transgenic animals whose DNA has been altered with either mutations or other DNA modifications, based on which loci have been associated with the risk of developing PD.

1.3.1.1 PD Animal Models – Neurotoxin models

Some examples of neurotoxins that have been used on animals in order to understand PD are MPTP (1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,5-tetrahydropyridine, Przedborski et al., 2001),

6-ODHA (6-hydroxydopamine, Lane et al., 2006), rotenone (Gao et al., 2003) and paraquat (Thiruchelvam et al., 2000). These compounds are used because of their ability to cause degeneration along the nigrostriatal axis, strongly resembling the neurodegeneration observed in PD. However, despite their many advantages, they fail to reproduce several key features that are essential in order to comprehensively understand the mechanisms of PD. One such example is the inability of 6-ODHA, when administered striatally in the brain of rodents to lead to the creation of Lewy bodies (Blandini et al., 2008). However, despite the fact that most of the neurotoxin models have been able to, even partially exhibit most of the parkinsonian symptoms, and predict the neuroprotective capabilities of several compounds used in their studies, the same findings were not observed when these compounds were tested in clinical trials (Athuada and Foltynie, 2015).

1.3.1.2 PD Animal Models – Transgenic Animals

In an effort to overcome the disadvantages of the neurotoxin animal models, several scientific groups created transgenic animals that carry DNA alterations either linked to familial or sporadic cases of PD or overexpressing proteins that have been linked to the risk of developing PD. These animal models were established in the hopes of recapitulating fully the pathology and symptoms of PD i.e. Lewy Body formation, motor symptoms, and non-motor symptoms. According to the literature, more than 18 loci have been associated with PD, based on several GWAS studies (Sutherland et al., 2009). Briefly, some of the loci that have been used in animal models include α -synculein, leukine-rich repeate kinase 2 (LRRK2), DJ-1, parkin, phosphatase and tensin-homologue (PTEN)- induced novel kinase 1 (PINK1).

1.3.1.2 α-synuclein transgenic animal models

Point-mutations or multiplications of the α -synculein gene (mostly duplications or triplications) have been observed and are known to lead to PD by an autosomal dominant manner. Because of the strong link between α -synuclein and PD, a great number of animal models have been created. It is essential to underline that various strategies of delivery have been employed. The integration of the transgene using molecular genetics has been a popular delivery method, however many groups have administered the transgene using viruses (adeno-associated viruses, lentiviruses etc) in order to infect a specific brain region.

Masliah et al., 2000 generated a mouse model overexpressing wild-type α -synuclein, leading to Lewy Body inclusions in the substantia nigra pars compacta, moderate dopaminergic cell death, and motor deficits. Since then, several other studies have used this animal model. The A53T mutation has also been extensively researched. Mice expressing α -synuclein with this mutation were found to have motor dysfunction as well as neurodegeneration, which was the result of filamentous inclusions found in the brains of these mice (Giasson et al., 2002). Another frequently used mutation in animal models is the A30P mutation. Mice carrying this mutation demonstrate neurodegeneration, however, it is limited only to non-dopaminergic regions. This animal model has also failed to reproduce the emergence of Lewy Body inclusions under the Thy1 promoter, whereas when inserted with the PrP promoter, Lewy Bodies as well as mitochondrial dysfunction are evident (Martin et al., 2006). α-synuclein deletion in animal models hasn't given us any further insight into the role that it may play in the development of PD (Abeliovich et al., 2000) leading to research steering away from this approach. Finally, viruses have been employed in animal models to deliver the α -synuclein transgene (Kirik et al., 2002 and Klein et al., 2002). For example, Kirik et al. (2002) administered recombinant adeno-associated viruses (rAAVs) unilaterally to the substantia nigra of Sprague Dawley rats, carrying either the full-length wild type α -synuclein cDNA or the A53T mutated α -synuclein cDNA, both under the CMV/CBA promoter. Klein et al., 2002, used the A30P transgene, delivered using rAAVs to the midbrain of rats, again using the CMV/CBA promoter. In both cases, progressive neurodegeneration was observed in the dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra as well as accumulation of α -synuclein. However, both of these studies concluded that the observed neurodegeneration was not sufficient to trigger robust motor and behavioral deficits that mimic symptoms of PD. More recently, a group in Japan attempted to create a transgenic murine animal model, containing the entire a-synuclein gene along with the flanking regions, utilizing the Bacterial Artificial Chromosome (BAC) as a vector (Yamakado et al., 2012). BAC tg mice exhibited reduced anxiety compared to their wild type littermates, however no motor or cognitive impairments were observed. In fact, these mice displayed hyperlocomotion during various behavioral tests, confirming the decreased anxiety that these animals have. This issue is the case for almost all of the animal models that have been used in PD reasearch. As stated by Kirik et al., 2002, Yamada et al., 2004 and Lo Bianco et al., 2004, most of the animal models fail to fully and accurately recapitulate all of the pathological features present in PD, as well as the motor and non-motor symptoms observed. The need for a model that will exhibit both robust expression as well as age-related aggregation of α -synuclein along with all the symptoms is greater than ever.

1.4 BAC ASYN Rats

In 2013, Nuber et al. published a new rat model that was unique compared to all previous animal models created. This animal model has integrated in its genome the entire human α -synuclein locus, along with the 30kb upstream regulatory sequences and 50kb downstream flanking region. In order for this effort to succeed, they employed the Bacterial Artificial Chromosome (BAC), a vector that can integrate inserts 150-350 kb in size. After a comprehensive analysis of the pathological features of these rats as well as their phenotype, it was concluded that this animal model showed strong age-related increased levels of insoluble full length α -synuclein in the dopaminergic synapse-rich striatum, increased insoluble C-terminal truncated α -synuclein, specifically in the brains of aged rats, comparable to findings in PD patients, decreased levels of striatal dopamine, hypolocomotion and an olfaction deficit as well as various other behavioral problems resembling parkinsonian non-motor symptoms.



Figure 4: Representation of the human α -synuclein structure, used for the created of the BAC ASYN rats. All introns and exons have been included (Introns: I1-5, exons: E1-6), along with the 5' and 3' UTR regions. Marked on the top are several genetic variants that have been identified as risk factors for PD. (taken from Nuber et al., 2013)

Because of the accurate recapitulation of parkinsonian pathology and phenotype exhibited by this animal model, we were interested in further characterizing their phenotypical and biochemical profile. This effort led to unexpected results. Interestingly, our analysis revealed age-related aggregation of insoluble α -synuclein as well as an olfaction deficit. However, our rats neither demonstrated dopaminergic nigrostriatal neurodegeneration nor did they show any reduction of striatal dopamine levels. In addition, we did not observe motor deficits up until 18 mo. On the contrary,, we observed hyperactivity and increased striatal domapine levels in these rats (Table 2 summarizes the differences in our findings).

German BAC ASYN rats (DE rats)	Greek BAC ASYN rats
Strong, Age-related insoluble α-synuclein accumulation	Strong, Age-related insoluble α-synuclein accumulation
Decrease of striatal dopamine levels	Increase of striatal dopamine levels
Neurodegeneration – Loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta	No neurodegeneration – Unchanged numbers of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta
Locomotion deficit	Hyperactivity
Olfaction deficit	Olfaction deficit

Table 2: Summary of the phenotypical differences observed between the BAC ASYN rats from the originating colony (German BAC ASYN rats (DE rats)) and our colony (Greek BAC ASYN rats (GR rats)). Similarities are limited to the age-related aggregation of insoluble α -synuclein and the olfaction deficit, while all other phenotypic features do not coincide between the two colonies.

The discrepancy between the two groups was the driving force behind the first part of this study. We wanted to explore the reasons behind these differences that made this animal model display varying phenotypes when present in two different environments. For this purpose, we focused on a comparative analysis of α -synuclein expression in the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system.

Because mutations in the *GBA* gene are the greatest genetic risk factor for developing PD, we sought to explore the role of α -synuclein and its effects along the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway at a deeper level by examining its interaction with β -glucocerebrosidase.

1.5.1 β-glucocerebrosidase

 β -glucocerebrosidase (GCase, Fig 5) is a lysosomal enzyme responsible for the conversion of glucocerebroside to glucose and ceramide (Qi and Grabowski et al., 2001). The human *GBA* gene is located at 1q21 and encodes the 497 amino acid GCase protein (Shafit-Zagardo et al., 1981).The rodent homologue is comprised of 515 amino acids. GBA has been associated with Gaucher disease, which is an autosomal dominant lysosomal storage disease caused by loss-of-function mutations of the GBA gene that leads to subsequent accumulation of glucocerebrosides in the lysosome. The protein can be divided into 3 domains: Domain I, an anti-parallel β -sheet, Domain II, a triose phosphate barrel containing the active centre of the enzyme and Domain III, an 8-

stranded β -barrel. It is known that transcription of GBA is dependent on the trascription factor EB (TFEB) which plays a role in the regulation of genes related to lysosomemediated degradation. Once translated, GCase is translocated to the ER where it undergoes several post-translational modifications and then binds to the LIMP-2 receptor. The GCase-LIMP-2 complex traverses through the trans-Golgi network, reaching the membrane of the lysosome where the two molecules are dissociated in a pH-dependent manner. Finally, activation of GCase in the lysosome is found to be mediated by Saposin-C (Fig. 6 D) (Smith et al., 2017).



Figure 5: Visual representation of the spatial conformation of β -glucocerebrosidase. The 3 distinct domains of the protein are clearly visible. (Domain I: pink, Domain II: green, Domain III: blue).

1.5.2 The link between PD and GBA

The first evidence pointing towards a link between GBA and PD was observed by a study that correlated mutations in GBA to the chance of developing Parkinsonism (Goker-Alpan et al., 2004). However, in 2009 Sidransky and colleagues established this link when they discovered GBA mutations in a sub-group of PD patients. It was later concluded that about 5-25% of all PD patients carry GBA mutations (Neumann et al., 2009; Schapira et al., 2015). Furthermore, even PD patients that do not have a GBA mutation, demonstrate reduced GCase activity in the striatum and substantia nigra in

conjunction with accumulation of α -synuclein, alterations in lysosomal autophagy, CMA and lipid metabolism (Gegg et al., 2012). Today, mutations in the GBA gene are considered to be the number one genetic risk factor in PD.

Studies have shown that although PD patients and GBA-PD patients seem almost indistinguishable, the progression of motor symptoms is faster in GBA-PD patients (Cilia et al., 2016; Koros et al., 2017). Non-motor symptoms are affected as well with GBA-PD patients being more prone to devoloping symptoms such as cognitive impairment, REM sleep behavior disorder, anosmia and autonomic dysfunction.

1.5.3 Mechanisms through which GBA may contribute to PD

The exact mechanism through which β -glucocerebrosidase contributes to the manifestation of PD has not yet been fully elucidated. Despite this, several studies have proposed different mechanisms. It has been shown that the accumulation of glucocerebroside can lead to accumulation of α -synuclein via stabilization of its toxic forms (α-synuclein oligomers), which in turn can cause a further decrease of GCase activity, leading to a bidirectional positive feedback loop effect as proposed by the work of Mazzulli et al., 2011. Furthermore, it is possible that the interaction between GCase and α -synuclein could potentially be facilitated under acidic conditions, proposed by Yap et al., 2011. The study concluded that interactions between α -synuclein and GCase are not possible in the cytoplasm, which normally has a neutral pH, but only in acidic conditions, thus the lysosome appears to be the appropriate environment for the in vivo interaction of these two molecules. Immunofluorescence has confirmed this as both of these proteins co-localize in the lysosome. Moreover, α -synuclein accumulation was found to be triggered by GCase deficiency as impairment of GCase activity can lead to reduction in the ability of the lysosome to degrade proteins (Mazzulli et al., 2011). Furthermore, GBA PD patients exhibit autophagic and lysosomal dysfunction (Gegg et al., 2012; Schondorf et al., 2014).

1.5.4 GBA and PD animal models

Point mutations in the GBA gene have been used as a way to study the disease in animal models. Examples of point mutations include GBA^{L444P/L444P}, GBA^{V394L/V394L}, GBA^{D409H/D409H} and GBA^{D409V/D409V}. Mice carrying the GBA^{D409V/D409V} were found to have increased α -synuclein aggregation (especially in the hippocampal region), while at the same time exhibit cognitive dysfunction (Sardi et al., 2011). The α -synuclein aggregates

were characterized as Lewy Bodies and Lewy Neurites, as they were Proteinase-K resistant. Another comprehensive study, utilizing a large number of mutated GBA animal models, also confirmed that GBA point mutations can lead to a-synuclein aggregation in the brain (Xu et al., 2011). In Cullen et al., 2011, mice with GBA mutations (D409H, D409V, V394L), also exhibited an age-dependent accumulation of asynuclein. Inhibition of GCase activity with conduritol B epoxide (CBE) leads to a significant increase of α-synuclein toxicity in vitro (Noelker et al., 2015). However, CBE inhibition of GCase in differentiated SH-SY5Y cells and primary neuronal cultures demonstrated no alterations in α -synuclein levels, its clearance or formation of its oligomeric species (Dermentzaki et al. 2013) but GCase deficiency may potentiate cell to cell transmission of pathogenic α -synuclein (Bae et al., 2014). Moreover, CBE inhibition has been shown to lead to accumulation of α -synuclein in nigral cells of wildtype mice (Manning-Bog et al., 2009) and increased striatal levels of oligometric α synuclein species in A53T mice (Papadopoulos et al., 2018). Similar results were observed in PrP-A53T SNCA mice when CBE was again used to partially inhibit the GCase activity (Rockenstein et al., 2016). These mice not only exhibited impaired motor functions (both fine and gross), compared to their wild-type littermates, but also demonstrated exacerbated non motor symptoms (contextual memory) along with a huge increase of soluble α -synuclein levels. Altogether, these data support an interplay between a-synuclein and GCase in PD pathology. Subsequently, studies have successfully ameliorated neurodegenerative phenotypes in murine synucleinopathy models by either enhancing GCase activity in the central nervous system (Sardi et al., 2013) or by targeting the pathway of GCase indirectly (via inhibition of glycosylceramide synthase, Sardi et al., 2017). In the first case, improvement of all cognitive deficits was observed along with decreased levels of soluble α -synuclein, when the hippocampus of GBA^{D409V/D409V} mice was injected with AAVs overexpressing the normal GBA gene. Additionally, when these AAVs were injected in the hippocampus of mice expressing the A53T α -synuclein, reduction of the accumulation of soluble α -synuclein was observed. In the second case, targeting of the glycosylceramide synthase led to decreased accumulation of a-synuclein in the hippocampus of A53T-SNCA overexpressing mice as well as GBA^{D409V/D409V}. This indirect targeting approach also led to long term benefits as well, such as the amelioration of cognitive deficits exhibited by these two animal models (Sardi et al., 2017).

Based on these studies, we created a murine model using striatal viral injections of microRNAs, targeting the mRNA sequence of GBA. Through this downregulation of GBA, our aim was to utilize this model to further study this interplay between GBA loss of function and α -synuclein accumulation in the nigrostriatal system, a system that, despite its importance in PD pathogenesis, has not been the focus of these previous studies..



Figure 6: Figure displaying the potential roles that GBA could have in the development of synucleinopathies. A. Impairment of GCase activity can lead to accumulation of α -synuclein and overall decreased protein degradation. B. Alterations in the structure of lipid membranes may be a result of decreased GCase, leading to seeding of α synuclein. C. Alterations in the abundance of GCase can disrupt normal ER function which in turn leads to ER stress, decreased function of the proteasome and accumulation of α -synuclein. D. Displacement of Sapocin-C due to mutations or reduction of GCase can lead to further reduced GCase activity. E. α -synuclein cell to cell transmission may occur under conditions of reduced GCase activity, leading to propagation of pathological α -synuclein. Figure taken from Sardi et al., 2015.

1.6 Aim of the study

This study aimed to assess nigrostriatal dopaminergic system integrity in two different α -synuclein-based animal models, that of BAC human wildtype α -synuclein overexpression in the rat, and a murine viral model of simultaneous microRNA GBA downregulation and human wildtype α -synuclein overexpression.

The phenotypic differences observed between the BAC rats from the originating colony in Germany and the BAC rats breeded here in Greece, led us to attempt to elucidate the reasons behind these differences while at the same time try to better understand the pathology of α -synuclein and manifestation of symptoms or lack there of (e.g.a) lack of neurodegeneration and b) hyperactivity in the AS BAC rats of our colony). To this end, we performed a comparative genetic and biochemical analysis between the two groups.

1.6.2 Part II: A novel "double-hit" model of GBA1 micro-RNA-mediated downregulation and human α -synuclein overexpression

Due to the fact that both α -synuclein and GCase have strongly been linked to the risk of developing PD, we wanted to investigate how the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway is affected in an animal model where we induce downregulation of *GBA* and overexpression of α -synuclein, a condition that appears to mimic the human pathogenic state. Immunohistochemical analysis was performed in order to assess the degree of GCase downregulation and potential alterations in levels of α -synuclein along the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway following application of the different combinations of viral injections. These studies derive from the fact that prior work in the lab has shown that the combined expression of haSyn with GCase downregulation confers a toxic effect to the nigrostriatal aaxis. Beyond confirming that miRGBA decreases levels of its target GCase, the question therfore was whether aSyn and GCase would reciprocally influence each other's levels, so as to reach to this effect.

2. Materials & Methods

2.1 aSyn BAC RAT Comparative Analysis

1. Dissection

Our collaborators from Germany provided us with brain tissues from 4 WT and 5 BAC animals from their colony. Specifically, the tissues we received were olfactory bulb (OB), frontal cortex (FC), striatum (STR), hippocampus (HIP) and ear biopsies as well. These animals were 12 months old, both male and female. In order to have comparable groups, we sacrificed 5 12 month old animals from our colony by decapitation. Subsequently, we dissected the areas of interest from the brains of these animals, snap froze them on dry ice and stored them at -80°C until analysis.

2. Tissue Homogenization and cytosolic and membrane soluble protein extraction

In order to extract the cytosolic and membrane soluble proteins from the collected tissues, we first homogenized the tissues using 600 ul of STET buffer (50 mM Tris-base pH 7.6, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 1% Triton-X-100) and a glass Teflon homogenizer. The lysate was then ultracentrifuged at 150.000 g for 1 hour at 4 °C. The supernatant was transferred to a clean tube (Triton-X soluble fraction). The pellet was washed two times with 1X PBS and centrifuged at 13.000 rpm at 4°C. The lysate was sonicated at 30% amplitude for 3-4 seconds in RIPA buffer + 2% SDS (50 mM Tris pH 7.6, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Triton-X-100, 0.5% Na-deoxycholate) and then centrifuged at 50.000g for 1 hour at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a clean tube (SDS soluble fraction). Protein concentration was determined using the Bradford assay (BIORAD).

3. DNA isolation and Real time polymerase chain reaction

DNA was isolated from ear biopsies. Tissues were incubated overnight with 400 ul of TNES buffer (50 mM Tris-base pH 7.6, 0.4 M NaCl, 100 mM EDTA, 0.5% SDS) and 4 ul of Proteinase K (20 ug/ul). 120 ul of NaCl 5M were added the next day and the samples were shook vigorously for 15 seconds and then centrifuged at 13.000 g for 30 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant was transferred to a new eppendorf tube and equal volume of ice cold 95% Ethanol was added and tubes were gently inverted. Samples were again centrifuged at 13.000 g for 30 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was removed, leaving only the DNA pellet. The pellet was briefly washed with 70% and air dried before being resuspended in ddH₂O. DNA concentration was measured by spectrometry (2 ul of DNA sample + 198ul of ddH₂O).

For the real time polymerase chain reaction, samples were appropriately diluted so that total amount of DNA was 8 ng. Each sample was in duplicate, in a qPCR plate (Roche). For each reaction we used 7.5 ul of SYBR green master mix, 0.5 ul of forward and reverse primers and 4.5 ul of DNase-free H_2O .

Oligo Name	Sequence (5' -> 3')
BAC-SNCARev	CCTCTTTCCACGCCACTATC
BAC-SNCARevPCR	TCCCCGCGGGGACCTCTAGCCTGTCGTCGAAT
BAC-SNCAFor	CCGCTCGAGCGGTAGGACCGCTTGTTTTAGAC
Rat b-actin For	TGGCTCCTAGCACCATGA
Rat b-actin Rev	CCACCAATCCACAGAG

Table 3: List of the primers used for the DNA insert comparison.

4. Western Blot Analysis

Protein levels of various α-synuclein species were determined using Western immunoblotting. For detection of phosphorylated α -synuclein (paSyn; pS129). we loaded 20µg of the brain lysates whereas for the detection of human α -synuclein (4B12) antibody), rodent and human α -synuclein (Syn1; C20) or for tyrosine hydroxylase (anti-TH) we loaded 10µg- all on 13% sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gels. We mixed the protein samples with 4X sample buffer (20% β-mercaptoethanol) and ran the gels. Following this, the proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane and blocked using 5% milk in 1X TBST. The blots were probed with antibodies against: paS129 (1:1000; Abcam), 4B12 (1:1000; GeneTex), Syn1 (1:1000; BD transduction), TH (1:1000; Millipore), y-Tubulin (1:2000; Acris). Blots were probed with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (HRP; mouse and rabbit) and then incubated with ECL solution for 3 minutes. Finally, the blots were developed on Super RX film (Fuji film). The resulting films were analyzed and guantified using ImageJ. y-Tubulin was used as a loading control with which we normalized all values. Re-probing of the membranes with a different antibody was performed after mild stripping (2ml Glycine 2M, 2ml NaCl 5M, adjust pH at 2.6) of the membrane for 20 minutes at room temperature.

2.2 Assessment of nigrostriatal dopaminergic system integrity in a "double hit" model of GBA1 microRNA-mediated downregulation and human α-synuclein overexpression

1. Animals

Eight-week-old male wildtype C57B/6 mice (27-33 g) were housed (5-6 animals/cage) with free access to food and water under a 12-h light/dark cycle. All experimental procedures performed were approved by the Ethical Committee for Use of Laboratory Animals in the Biomedical Research Foundation of Athens.

2. Adeno-associated viruses (AAVs)

Adeno-associated viral vectors, kindly provided by Dr. P. Sardi (Sanofi), were used to downregulate GCase expression with a small hairpin microRNA vector targeting GBA1 (miR GBA), control vector with a scrambled microRNA (miR control) or co-transduced with GFP, where indicated (miR control-GFP), rescue vector expressing a miRNA-resistant GBA (i.e. ectopic expression of the wild type GBA1 gene) and vector overexpressing human α -synuclein (aSyn). Subjects were assigned to one of 6 treatment groups: miR control +/- aSyn, miR GBA +/- aSyn and miR rescue GBA +/- aSyn (see table 1 for the list of viruses and titers).

Virus	Virus	Titer
miR control	AAV2/1 CBA-miR-Control	2,80 x 10 ¹²
miR control-GFP		
miR GBA	AAV2/1 EGFP-miRNA-gba1 B	3,30 x 10 ¹³
miR rescue	AAV2/1 scGusB-GC*-miR gbaB	3,40 x 10 ¹²
aSyn	AAV1-CBA-aSynuclein	6,30 x 10 ¹²

Table 4: A table containing the viral load injected into the striatum of the animals used for our experiments.

Six experimental groups were created for the purposes of our methodology, which are as follows:

Treatment	Abbreviation
microRNA control (GFP) – human aSyn	mirCTL – aSyn
microRNA GBA (GFP) – human aSyn	mirGBA – aSyn

microRNA rescue – human aSyn	mirRescue – aSyn
microRNA control (GFP) + human aSyn	mirCTL + aSyn
microRNA GBA (GFP) + human aSyn	mirGBA + aSyn
microRNA rescue + human aSyn	mirRescue + aSyn

Table 5: Table containing the six different experimental groups created for the purposes of our experiments. Noted on the right side the abbreviations used for each group.

3. Surgical Procedures

All surgical procedures were performed under isoflurane (Abbott, B506) anesthesia. Animals were given i.p. carpofen (dose) for analgesia. After placing the animal into a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments, USA), 2 μ l of AAV solution (with final titer of 3,3E13 gc/mL) and 1 μ l of DPBS or a-synuclein was injected unilaterally into the right striatum using the following coordinates: -0.5 mm anteroposterior, +1.6 mm mediolateral from the bregma, and -3.4 mm dorsoventral from the skull, according to the mouse stereotaxic atlas (Paxinos, The mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates). Injection was performed using a pulled glass capillary (diameter of approximately 60–80 μ m) attached to a Hamilton syringe with a 22s gauge needle. After delivery of the viral vector using an injection rate of 0.1 μ L/15 sec the capillary was held in place for 5 min, retracted 0.1 μ m, and, after 2 min, was slowly withdrawn from the brain.

4. Intracardiac perfusion

4 or 8 weeks post surgery (WPS), animals were perfused under isoflurane anesthesia. The perfusion was performed through the ascending aorta using approximately 30 ml of 1X PBS for blood clearance and then 50 ml of 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for tissue fixation. The brains were removed and post-fixated overnight in 4% PFA, then transferred to 15% sucrose overnight followed by 30% sucrose overnight. Following this, the brains were frozen using isopentane on ice (-55°C) and stored at -80°C until analysis.

5. Cryotome

The perfused brains were cryosectioned through the coronal plane in 30 μ m increments. We collected sections from the striatum and substantia nigra. The sections were

collected free floating in anti-freeze buffer (NaH₂PO₄ ; Na₂HPO₄ ;Etylen glycol;Glycerol; H₂O) and kept in storage at -20^oC until analysis.

6. Immunohistochemistry

For immunohistochemichal analysis of the obtained sections, we selected striatal and nigral sections (for the substantia nigra, planes 4-7 were ideal for maximum TH+ cell somata). The sections were washed with PBS, followed by antigen retrieval with 10mM citrate buffer at 80°C for 20 minutes then placed on ice for an additional 20 minutes. The sections were then blocked using 5% normal goat serum (NGS) and 0.1% Triton-X for 1 hour at room temperature. Subsequently, the sections were incubated for 48 hours at 4°C with the following antibodies: GBA (1:500;), human α -synuclein 211 (1:10.000;), GFP (1:2000;), TH (1:2000; Millipore), Dopamine transporter (DAT; 1:2000;). Finally, the sections were incubated with the following secondary antibodies: rabbit red (1:2000), chicken green (1:2000), rat red (1:2000), mouse far red (1:500), DAPI (1:2000).

7. Total RNA isolation and reverse transcription

Midbrain tissues were dissected from mouse brains and total RNA was isolated. For this purpose, 1 ml of TRIZOL was used per 50-100 mg of tissue, followed by centrifugation at 12.000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a new tube and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. Afterwards, 0.2 ml of chloroform was added per 1 ml of TRIZOL reagent. The tubes were shook vigorously for 15 seconds and incubated again at room temperature for a further 3 minutes, followed by centrifugation at 12.000xg for 15 minutes at 4°C. The mixture is separated into a lower red, phenol-chloroform phase, an interphase and a colorless upper aqueous phase, which contains the RNA. The aqueous phase was transferred into a new eppendorf tube and the RNA was precipitated using 0.5 ml of isopropyl alcohol per 1 ml of TRIZOL. Samples were incubated overnight at -20°C, in order to increase the yeald. Following this, the samples were centrifuged again at 12.000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C

and the supernatant was then completely removed, leaving only the RNA pellet which was washed using 75% ethanol (1 ml per 1 ml of TRIZOL). After another centrifugation at 7.500 g for 5 minutes at 4°C, the pellets were air dried and dissolved in RNase-free H_2O . Concentration was measured using spectrometry and RNA integrity was assessed by running 500 ng of each sample on a 1% agarose gel.

Following this, we proceeded to perform reverse transcription in order to create cDNAs from these samples. DNase treatment was then performed (RQ1 10x buffer, RQ1 DNase by Promega, 30 minutes at 37°C) and stopped by adding 1 ul of DNase Stop Solution (Promega) at the sample and incubating for 10 minutes at 65°C. Finally, 1 ul of oligo dT per sample was added and the samples were incubated for 5 minutes at 70°C. For the cDNA synthesis we used 5 ul of 5X RT buffer (Promega), 5 ul of dNTPs, 1 ul of RNaseOUT (Promega) and 1 ul of reverse transcriptase (M-MLV RT, Promega) and incubated the samples for 1 hour at 37°C.

8. Confocal microscopy and analysis

Images from the stained sections were obtained using confocal microscopy (Leica SP5 mark II with conventional photon-multiplier tube, at 23°C using the Leica Advanced Fluorescence v2.7 acquisition software (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany)). After acquiring representative images, quantification of the stained proteins was done using Imaris, a 3D & 4D Interactive Microscopy Vizualization Software (Version 8.0), for GBA or ImageJ, for aSyn. For each animal, two sections per brain area were used and a total of 3 images per section were obtained.

For GBA quantification (N=5 for 4WPI, N=3 for 8WPI), the surface function of the Imaris software was used to select only GFP positive cells by appropriately adjusting the number of voxels as well as the intensity of the GFP channel in the threshold tab. The intensity of GBA was then calculated by masking the GBA channel within the aforementioned selected surfaces.

For the quantification of human aSyn (N=4-6) in the striatum and substantia nigra, the entire surface using DAPI intensity or TH positive somata, respectively, was selected and the threshold was adjusted appropriately, after converting the image to 8-bit. The selected area was assigned as the region of interest (ROI) and using the measure tool, we measured the intensity of hu aSyn staining within that ROI.

3. Results

3.1 A comparative analysis of genotype-phenotype in a human alpha synuclein overexpression model

3.1.1 Genetic analysis

In order to assess whether there are genetic differences between the animals of the German (DE) and the Greek (GR) colony, quantitative real-time PCR was performed on 5 samples from each group. As a loading control for the normalization of the results, rat β -actin was used. The results are shown in the figure below.



Figure 7: Genetic analysis with qPCR between the DE and the GR colony. These results indicate that the BAC rats from the DE colony have a greater relative copy number of the human α -synuclein gene than the GR colony. ** P≤0.01

From this analysis, it is evident that there is a statistically significant difference between the two colonies, with the DE colony having higher normalized levels of human α -synuclein gene expression compared to the GR colony (Fig. 1).

3.1.2 Biochemical analysis

Following the genetic analysis, we wanted to identify whether any differences can be observed in the protein level of various aSyn species, along the nigrostriatal axis.

As far as the midbrain tissue samples go, Western blot analysis revealed very low levels of paSyn in the Triton-X soluble fractions (Fig. 2, 3A). Moreover, no differences were observed between colonies when human and total aSyn levels were compared (Fig. 2, 3B, C). As far as TH levels go, decreased levels were observed in the DE midbrain tissue samples, suggesting that neurodegeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the midbrain of these animals is significantly greater when compared to the animals from the GR colony (Fig. 2, 3D). Results for the SDS soluble fraction revealed elevated levels of paSyn in the midbrain of the DE BAC rats (Fig. 2, 3E). However, levels of human and total aSyn in the SDS soluble fraction are decreased in the DE BAC rats (Fig. 2, 3F, G).

Comparison of striatal tissue samples of DE and GR BAC rats revealed increased levels of paSyn, human aSyn and total aSyn in both Triton-X-soluble and Triton-X -insoluble (SDS) fractions (Fig. 4, 5A-C, E-G). There was no difference in cytosolic TH levels (TX-soluble fraction only) (Fig. 4, 5D).







Figure 3: Grouped scatter plots of the Western blot protein quantification from the midbrain samples from the two colonies, regarding the Triton-X and SDS soluble fractions. The two groups are denoted below the plots (DE for the German BAC rats, GR for the Greek BAC rats). The number of samples used for each blot is also denoted below each plot. No significant differences are displayed between the two colonies, regarding the levels of paSyn (A), human (B) and total aSyn (C). Tyrosine hydroxylase levels are decreased in the German BAC rats (D), whereas levels of paSyn (E), human (F) and total (G) aSyn are elevated in the SDS soluble fraction. All values are expressed as normalized protein of interest vs. γ -tubulin. *p≤0.05, **p≤ 0.01, ***p≤0.001



Figure 4: Western immunobloting analysis of the striatal tissue samples of the DE and GR BAC rats. Striatal tissue from wild type (WT) rats was used as negative control, whereas the remaining brain after dissection of the brain regions of interest was used as positive control (Rest brain). BAC rats from both the originating lab (Germany, denoted as DE) and our lab (Greece, denoted as GR), were lysed and two protein fractions were prepared – Triton-X 100 soluble (top panel) and SDS soluble (bottom panel). Membranes were probed using antibodies against phosphorylated aSyn (paSyn), human aSyn (4B12), total aSyn (Syn1) and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH). Relative density for the monomeric aSyn species (15 kDa) as well as TH (60 kDa) was normalized to the intensity of the γ -tubulin band (40 kDa).



Figure 9: Grouped scatter plots of the western blot results from the Triton-X and SDS soluble fractions of striatal samples from the two colonies. The two groups are denoted below the plots (DE for the German BAC rats, GR for the Greek BAC rats). The number of samples used for each blot is also denoted below each plot. Levels of paSyn (A,E), human (B,F) as well as total aSyn (C,G) are increased in the DE BAC rats compared to the GR BAC rats in both the Triton-X soluble fraction (top panel) as well as the SDS soluble fraction (bottom panel). Tyrosine hydroxylase levels display no significant differences between the two groups. All values are expressed as normalized protein of interest vs. γ -tubulin. *p≤0.05, **p≤ 0.01, ***p≤0.001.

3.2. A novel "double-hit" model of GBA1 micro-RNA-mediated downregulation and human α-synuclein overexpression

3.1.1 GCase downregulation at 4 weeks post surgery

In order to assess the downregulation of GCase 4 weeks post surgery (WPS), coronal striatal sections from the groups mirCTL – aSyn, mirCTL + aSyn, mirGBA – aSyn and mirGBA + aSyn, were stained against GCase, GFP and DAPI. Characteristic images from these groups were obtained using confocal microscopy and the amount of GCase within the GFP-positive stained cells was quantified. Analysis suggests that no significant differences exist between the groups in regards to the intensity of GCase in GFP-positive neurons in the striatum. Representative images are shown in Fig. 6.


Figure 10: Representative images and bar chart of the analysis of ipsilateral striatal sections stained for GFP, GCase and DAPI 4 weeks post surgery (WPS) in subjects injected with either the mirCTL -/+ aSyn or the mirGBA -/+aSyn . As indicated by the bar chart in the bottom panel, no significant differences were observed between the groups at 4 WPS, though a minor downregulation is observed in the mirGBA – aSyn and mirGBA +aSyn groups.

3.1.2 GCase downregulation at 8 weeks post surgery

Following assessment of the downregulation of GCase 4 WPS, we wanted to investigate the levels of downregulation at 8 WPS (Fig. 7). Characteristic images from these groups were obtained using confocal microscopy and the amount of GCase within the GFP-positive stained cells was quantified, as above. In this case, the available groups included mirCTL-aSyn, mirGBA+aSyn, and mirRescue –aSyn, thus some groups that would make the analysis more meaningful were missing. The intensity of GCase appears to be decreased in the mirGBA+aSyn group, compared to the mirCTL–aSyn, indicating effective downregulation of GCase expression with the miRNA for GBA; however, the aSYN expression in this condition may also play a role in the effective downregulation of GCase. Moreover, the intensity of the mirRescue –aSyn group looks relatively the same as the mirCTL –aSyn, indicating the rescue of the phenotype in this group. Quantification could not be performed in this case, as the expression vector lacked GFP.



Figure 11: Representative images from ipsilateral striatal sections of injected mice 8 weeks post surgery. GFP is coloured green, GCase red, tyrosine hydroxylase grey and DAPi blue. The intensity of GCase appears to be decreased in the mirGBA +aSyn group, compared to the mirCTL –aSyn. Moreover, the intensity of the mirRescue – aSyn group looks relatively the same as the mirCTL –aSyn, indicating the rescue of the phenotype in this group. Below the images is a bar chart with the quantitative results after the Imaris analysis, indicating that the downregulation is statistically significant at 8 WPS. N=3, * = P ≤ 0.05

3.2.1 Accumulation of human α-synuclein along the nigrostriatal axis at 8 WPS

Our data suggest that we have statistically significant downregulation of GCase at 8 WPS. Therefore, in order to assess the phenotype of these animals as far as the accumulation of human α -synuclein goes, we decided to focus on the 8 WPS time-point. Enhanced accumulation of human α -synuclein is evident in both the striatum and substantia nigra in the mirGBA + aSyn groups, with the intensity in the mirRescue + aSyn group, being comparable to the levels as in the mirCTL+ aSyn (Fig. 8). This is based on a regional analysis of the striatum and the nigra respectively. Of note, the reason for the human aSyn expression in the SN is that there is retrograde and antergograde transfer of the transgenes to the nigra, following the striatal injections.



Figure 12: Immunohistochemistry revealing the levels of human αsynuclein in the striatum and substantia nigra of animals 8 WPS. Striatal and nigral coronal sections from animals sacrificed 8 weeks post-surgery were stained against human *a*-synuclein and TH/DAPI (for the striatum and substantia nigra). Using ImageJ, we calculated the intensity of the human α-synuclein signal in DAPI+ cells. For the nigral sections, we calculated the intensity using the TH+ neurons as reference. On the right, bar charts represent the quantification of human α-synuclein in both these brain regions. Accumulation of human α-synuclein (huAS) is evident in both brain regions in the mirGBA + aSyn groups, with the intensity in the mirRescue + aSyn group, being comparable to that of the mirCTL +aSyn group.

*p≤0.05, **p≤ 0.01

3.2.2 Human α-synuclein cDNA levels

In order to preclude differences in human α -synuclein levels due to the expression of the viral transgene in the various conditions, we quantified the cDNA levels of human α -synuclein expressed in the tissue of these animals. The data from the qPCR analysis revealed no differences in aSyn cDNA expression in the substantia nigra (Fig. 9).



Figure 13: cDNA levels of human α -synuclein reflecting the expression levels of the viral transgene containing the human α -synuclein sequence. No differences are observed between mirCTL + aSYN, miRFBA + aSyn and mirRescue + aSyn. Results are expressed as fold of change in the expression levels of cDNA compared to a reference sample (heterozygote for huaSyn).

3.3 Detection of toxic a-synuclein species

After confirmation of the downregulation of GCase and subsequently observing human α -synuclein accumulation in the mGBA + aSyn-injected animals, we then examined the presence of toxic α -synuclein species. A pilot study was performed (N=1) on coronal striatal and nigral sections that were stained against oxidized/nitrated aSyn (Syn303) and tyrosine hydroxylase. According to our data, miRGBA + aSyn-injected mice appear to have a greater presence of nitrated/oxidized forms of aSyn as compared to mirCTL + aSyn, at least in the striatum (Fig. 10). However, since this is only a pilot study, these results are inconclusive and only serve as an indication of this apparent emergence of toxic aSyn species. Further investigation is mandatory in order to confirm this hypothesis.



Figure 14: Representative images from the sections stained against the oxidized/nitrated aSyn. From these images, the presence of nitrated and oxidized α -synuclein species is evident. However, these toxic forms are limited to the striatum and do not appear to be present in the substantia nigra at 8 WPS.

4. Discussion

An animal model that can acurately recapitulate the progression of PD as seen in humans is a highly sought after goal in PD research. The purpose of these models is to help us better understand both the mechanisms of pathology underlying this disease, provide us with the ability to develop valuable diagnostic tools and finally, test novel therapeutic strategies in an attempt to better treat the ever increasing number of PD patients globally. However, both transgenic and neurotoxin-induced PD animal models recapitulate some but not all of the complex pathological features and symptoms. aSynbased models are particularly important for the study of PD as this fascinating protein is implicated in both familial and sporadic forms of the disease. In 2013, Nuber et al. created a rat model that possesses the entire locus of the human aSyn gene, along with the upstream and downstream cis-regulatory elements. This BAC aSyn rat model is an important step for PD research as it was found to possess all the necessary elements of a robust animal model for this disease including aggregation pathology, loss of dopaminergic system intergrity, and non-motor and motor behavioral deficits.

Our biochemical and behavioral characterization of these aSyn BAC rats revealed some similarities with the originating colony such as an early olfactory deficit and aggregation pathology but also yielded some unexpected results. Our colony demonstrated ageindependent locomotor hyperactivity rather than hypoactivity and lack of dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the nigrostriatal system up to 12 mo. Thus, we sought out to explore potential underlying genetic and biochemical differences between the originating colony and our colony.

Initial genetic analysis of the relative copy number of the human α -synuclein gene revealed reduced copy number in animals from our colony, the Greek colony (GR), compared to the originating colony in Germany (DE) (Fig. 1). The lower relative copy number of the human α Syn gene could potentially explain the phenotypic differences observed. A lower copy number could result in lower expression of the transgene and in combination with the work of Klein and Schlossmacher in 2006 and Fuchs et al. in 2007 regarding the effects of *SNCA* locus multiplication on the severity of the PD phenotype in patients, we can assume that fewer copy numbers in the GR aSyn BAC rats could potentially lead to a less severe phenotype compared with their DE aSyn BAC counterparts. Additionally, One possible explanation could be that our founders had a lower relative copy number and thus relatively lower gene expression to begin with. This fact along with any effects genetic drift may have had on our colony, could potentially lead to altered relative gene copy number between the two colonies.

Next, a thorough biochemical profile comparison was performed so as to probe for any differences between the two colonies with respect to the expression of various aSyn species at the protein level along the nigrostriatal axis. Western blot analysis was

performed in order to quantify these species both in Triton-X soluble and Triton-X insoluble/SDS-soluble homogenized tissue lysate from the midbrain and striatum of both GR and DE aSyn BAC rats (Fig 2 & 3). With respect to the midbrain, no significant difference was observed in the levels of serine 129 phosphorylated (pS129) aSyn. human-specific and total α Syn in the Triton-X soluble fraction, indicating that both groups share a similar biochemical profile of soluble aSyn species. On the contrary, levels of pS129 aSyn in the Tritox-insoluble fraction were significantly elevated in DE aSyn BAC rats when compared with GR aSyn BAC rats. This is an important finding as serine129 phosphorylated a Syn is postulated to be a toxic species of a Syn and believed to play a role in disease progression. A case in point, pS129 aSyn has been found in abundance inside Lewy Bodies of patients suffering from synucleinopathies (Fujihara et al. 2002). Additionally, it has been shown that the presence of this specific aSyn species, promotes the formation of aSyn fibrils, thus leading to protein aggregation and in vivo expression of pS129 aSyn in the substantia nigra of a lentiviral rat model induced significant loss of neurons while at the same time reducing dopamine and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) levels, the synthesizing enzyme of dopamine, in the striatum (Gorbatyuk et al., 2008). This leads us to conclude that the elevated levels of pS129 aSyn in the DE aSyn BAC could also contribute to the exacerbated phenotype of these animals. Interestingly, GR aSyn BAC rats demonstrated higher levels of human and total aSyn, a result which doesn't initially seem in accordance with the levels of pS129 aSyn. Importantly however, the TH levels, ie. a marker for dopaminergic neurons, were reduced in the midbrain of DE aSyn BAC rats, compared with GR aSyn BAC rats. This reduction could represent reduced nigral dopaminergic cell expression, indicative of nigral neurodegeneration. In Nuber et al., 2013, pS129 aSyn levels were not examined, however, they reported age-dependent accumulation of insoluble (Urea/5% SDS) fulllength aSyn in the substantia nigra that were possibly undetectable in our Triton-Xsoluble/SDS-soluble fraction analysis.

Biochemical analysis of the striatum revealed that the Triton-X soluble fraction exhibited a strong increase in the levels of pS129, human-specific and total aSyn in DE aSyn BAC rats (Fig. 4 & 5). This trend is consistent with the Triton-X insoluble fraction, where all probed aSyn species were elevated. These results are in accordance with the reported observations in Nuber et al., 2013 where an increase of aSyn was observed in the striatum of these animals in both the Triton-X soluble and SDS soluble fraction. Importantly, these results are comparable to the mutant A53T aSyn model described in Giasson et al., 2002 where accumulation was evident throughout the nigrostriatal axis. The increase of the pS129 aSyn along with the increase of the insoluble forms of both human and total aSyn (Spillantini et al., 1997; Vekrellis et al., 2009) can also explain the observed discrepancy in the severity of the phenotype between the two groups. However, unlike the midbrain, the TH levels were comparable between the two groups.

Taken together, the fact that the aSyn BAC rats from the originating colony (DE) exhibit higher levels of pS129, human and total aSyn along with increased relative copy

number of the human aSyn insert, can potentially provide an explanation for the phenotypic differences between the two groups. An increased copy number of the human aSyn has previously been found to be causative of the induction of an early PD phenotype (Daher et al., 2009). The main conclusion drawn from these experiments is that the severity of the phenotype and therefore, the neurodegenerative potential of aSyn is dependent on its expression and protein load, as it has been observed with animal models that overexpress aSyn (Dawson et al., 2010) which exhibited different pathology and range of symptoms based on differences that influence the expression of aSyn such as the promoter under which the gene is expressed, the regional expression (for viral models, see Kirik et al. 2002; Klein et al., 2002) or even different forms of mutant aSyn, such as A53T can induce differences in the observed aSyn pathology (Giasson et al. 2002, Lee et al. 2002).

The reason for the decrease in aSyn expression levels in the colony established in BRFAA may include a founder effect, meaning that the animals used for the creation of the colony possessed a low copy number of the human aSyn transgene to begin with, or because of genetic drift, which occurs naturally within a population and thus, regular screening of the genetic profile of the animals is needed (Fahey et al., 2013). However, it is important to understand that other factors could also be playing a role in these phenotypic discrepancies. It has been shown that many environmental factors can influence aSyn aggregation and deposition and nigrostriatal neurodegeneration. For example, an iron-rich diet exacerbates the pathology of A53T mice and leads to neurodegeneration (Jia et al. 2018) and environmental enrichment can lead to an amelioration of nigral cell loss (Jungling et al., 2017). Various other studies have also shown that the diet can affect the microbiome of an organism (Voreades et al., 2014) and many studies have concluded that the microbiome might play a more important role in the manifestation of neurodegenerative disease than we previously thought (Cho et al., 2012). Further insights into this possibility were revealed by Sampson et al., 2016 where it was shown that when the gut microbiome was removed using antibiotics, the motor deficits that were normally observed were no longer present and returned when the gut bacterial colony was restablished. Since the microbiome of animals depends on their environment, region and species, the need to investigate whether our animals are influenced by this factor arises.

The second part of the study focused on examining the interplay between aSyn and GBA in nigrostriatal axis integrity. To this end, we created a novel double-hit viral model of micro-RNA-mediated downregulation of the *GBA1* gene and overexpression of human α Syn in the striatum. First, downregulation of GCase was assessed 4 weeks and 8 weeks post surgery. At 4 weeks, only a small but not statistically significant reduction in the amount of GCase in the striatum was observed in the mirGBA – aSyn and the mirGBA + aSyn groups (Fig. 6). The reason behind this could potentially be the fact the viruses used for this experiments weren't efficient enough in order to reduce the amount of GCase significantly 1 month after the surgery. Current literature suggests that the

specific viral serotype (2/1) is highly infective and are quickly uptaken within a few days, especially by neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Bartlett et al., 1998). However, studies ultilizing such viral models perform their experiments at various timepoints ranging from as early as 3-4 weeks after the injection or 8 weeks (Kirik et al., 2002; Gorbatyuk et al., 2010), and sometimes going up to 6 months or even a year after the injection (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010; Klein et al., 2002). On the other hand, at 8 weeks post surgery, an approximate 50% reduction of striatal GCase was observed (Fig. 7). It is important to point out that the comparison was carried out between the mirCTL – aSyn and the mirGBA + aSyn groups, however, aSyn expression in this condition may also play a role in the effective downregulation of GCase. As stated in Mazzulli et al., 2011, the ability of the aggregated aSyn to inhibit the normal trafficking of GBA from the ER to the lysosome as well as its normal lysosomal function and therefore, further reduction in the normal GCase activity could be facilitated in the mirGBA +aSyn group compared to the mirGBA –aSyn and the controls. Accordingly, further analysis needs to be done in future experiments to quantify and compare miR CTL vs. miR GBA in the presence and absence of aSyn. Overall, this finding provides the impetus to continue our exploration of this model at the 8 week time point.

Next, we assessed whether the reduction of GCase leads to an abnormal accumulation of human α Syn. Interestingly, the mirGBA + aSyn group exhibited elevated levels of human aSyn both in the striatum and substantia nigra when compared with miR CTL + aSyn and miR resc + aSyn groups, further supporting a "toxic" interplay caused by the reduction of GCase and the presence of aberrant AS. Both the miR CTL + aSyn and miR resc + aSyn groups appeared to have similar levels of human α Syn expression, showing that reversal of the phenotype and restoration of the normal GCase function by overexpression of the human GBA1 gene proves enough to prevent the aberrant accumulation of aSyn. We confirmed that this enhanced accumulation of aSyn was due to the downregulation of GBA along the nigrostriatal axis and not due to variance of the viral load delivered in the striatum of the animals as all groups appear to have similar levels of human aSyn mRNA. From our findings, it is apparent that when there is a reduction in the GCase activity of neurons overexpressing aSyn, there is an enhanced accumulation of aSyn. Previous studies support that the accumulation of aSyn could potentially be facilitated by changes in the concentration of GlyCer, due to deficits in the activity of GCase (Ginns et al., 2014; Farfel-Becker et al., 2014). Deficits in normal lysosomal function and thus protein clearance has additionally been proposed (Gegg et al., 2012; Schondorf et al2014). Whether this is the case for our animal model as well, needs to be investigated in the future in order to futher elucidate the mechanisms of neurodegeneration.

Additionally, in a preliminary study, we assessed the presence of nitrated and oxidized aSyn and our results indicated the presence of these toxic species in the striatum of miR GBA + aSyn group compared with mirCTL + aSyn, where they were absent (Fig. 10). Previous studies propose that nitrated aSyn in neurons can elicit an increased

inflammatory response (Chavarria et al., 2013) leading to a cascade of events that exacerbates aSyn pathology, whereas oxidized aSyn facilitates the stabilization of the oligomeric aSyn species (Li et al., 2004). Our finding further supports a "toxic" interplay between GBA and aSyn that possibly leads to either increased synthesis of these toxic species or reduced clearance, but further elucidation is required.

Overall, our findings offer valuable insight with respect to the role of aSyn and its effects on the nigrostriatal axis and its propensity to cause neurodgeneration in two different animal models of PD. However, the two animal models contribute to our knowledge base from a different perspective. On one hand, the aSyn BAC rat is an animal model that provides a unique translational tool to study the pre-motor phase of PD, since the expression and protein levels of aSyn do not lead to the full recapitulation of the motor symptoms but do lead to a plethora of pre-motor symptoms such as olfaction deficit and age-dependent accumulation of aSyn. This model is ideal to assess environmental factors that may lead to phenoconversion to a neurodegenerative phenotype but also to identify potential phenotypes and/or biomarkers that will permit early intervention with neuroprotective or disease-modifying therapeutics for PD. On the other hand, our novel double-hit mouse viral model of micro-RNA-mediated GBA1 downregulation and human α Syn overexpression is a valuable tool for the further investigation into mechanisms of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurodegeneration. Future studies should focus on assessing the GBA-aSyn interplay in relation to substrate accumulation, autophagic dysfunction and neuroinflammation.

5. References

- Abeliovich A., Schmitz Y., Fariñas I., Choi-Lundberg D., Ho W.H., Castillo P.E., Shinsky N., Verdugo J.M., Armanini M., Ryan A., Hynes M., Phillips H., Suzler D., Rosenthal A., Mice lacking alpha-synuclein display functional deficits in nigrostriatal dopamine system. Neuron 2000; 25:239-252
- Alves G., Forsaa E.B., Pedersen K.F., Dreetz Gjerstad M., and Larsen J.P., Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Journal of Neurology, 2008; 255 Suppl 5:18-32
- 3) Athuada D., Foltynie T., The ongoing pursuit of neuroprotective therapies in Parkinson's disease. Nature Reviews: Neurology, 2015; 11:25-40
- 4) Bae E.J., Yang N.Y., Song M., Lee C.S., Lee J.S., Jung B.C., Lee H.J., Kim S., Masliah E., Sardi S.P., Lee S.J., Glucocerebrosidase depletion enhances cell-tocell transmission of α-synuclein. Nature Communications 2014; 5:4755
- 5) Bartels T., Choi J.G., Selkoe D.J., Alpha-synuclein occurs physiologically as a helically folded tetramer that resists aggregation. Nature, 2011; 477-107-110
- 6) Bartlett J.S., Samulski R.J., McCown T.J., Selective and rapid uptake of Adenoassociated Virus type 2 in brain. Human Gene Therapy 1998; 9:1181-1186
- 7) Blandini F., Armentero M.T., Animal models of Parkinson's disease. FEBS Journal, 2012; 279:1156-1166
- 8) Bonifati V., Rizz P., Squitieri F., Krieger E., Vanacore N., van Swieten J.C., Brice A., van Duijn C.M., Oostra B., Meco G., Heutink P., DJ-1 (PARK7), a novel gene for autosomal recessive, early-onset parkinsonism. Neurological sciences: official journal of the Italian Neurological Society and of the Italian Society of Clinical Neurophysiology, 2003; 24:156-160
- 9) Burree J., The synaptic function of α -synuclein. Journal of Parkinson's disease, 2015; 5:699-713
- Cardoso S.M., Moreira P.I., Agostinho P., Pereira C., Oliveira C.R., Neurodegenerative pathways in Parkinson's disease: therapeutic strategies. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord, 2005; 4:405-419
- Chavarria C., Souza J.M., Oxidation and nitration of α-synuclein and their implications in neurodegenerative diseases. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 2013; 533:25-32
- 12) Cheng F., Vivacqua G., Yu S., The role of α-synuclein in neurotransmission and synaptic plasticity. Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy, 2011; 42:242-248
- 13) Cho I., Blaser M.J., The human microbiome: at the interface of heath and disease. Nature Reviews Genetics 2012; 13:260-270
- 14) Cilia R., Tunesi S., Marotta G., Cereda E., Siri C., Tesei S., Zecchinelli A.L., Canesi M., Mariani C.B., Meucci N., Survival and dementia in GBA-associated Parkinson's disease: The mutation matters. Annals of Neurology 2016; 80:662-673

- 15) Conway K.A., Jarper J.D., Lansbury P.T., Accelerated in vitro fibril formation by a mutant alpha-synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. Nature medicine, 1998; 4:1318-1320
- 16) Cookson M.R., The biochemistry of Parkinson's disease. Annual review of biochemistry, 2005; 74:29-52
- 17) Corti O., Lesage S., Brice A., What genetics tells us about the causes and mechanisms of Parkinson's disease. Physiological reviews, 2011; 91:1161-1218
- 18) Cullen V., Sardi S.P., Xu., Y.H., Sun Y., Tomlinson J.J., Kolodziej P., Kahn I., Saftig P., Woulfe J., Rochet J.C., Glickman M.A., Cheng S.H., Grabowski G.A., Shihabuddin L.S., Schlossmacher M.G., Acid β-glucosidase mutants linked to Gaucher disease, Parkinson disease and Lewy body dementia alter α-synuclein processing. Annals of Neurology 2011; 69:940-953
- 19) Daher J.P., Ying M., Banerjee R., McDonald R.S., Hahn M.D., Yang L., Flint Beal M., Thomas B., Dawson V.L., Dawson T.M., Moore D.J., Conditional transgenic mice expressing C-terminally truncated human alpha-synuclein (alphaSyn119) exhibit reduced striatal dopamine without loss of nigrostriatal pathway dopaminergic neurons. Molecular Neurodegeneration 2009; 4:34
- 20) Dauer W., Przedborksi S., Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. Neuron, 2003; 39:899-909
- 21) Dawson T.M., Dawson V.L., Genetic animal models of Parkinson's disease. Neuron 2010; 66:646-661
- 22) Dermentzaki G., Dimitriou E., Xilouri M., Michelakakis H., Stefanis L., Loss of βglucocerebrosidase activity does not affect alpha-synuclein levels or lysosomal function in neuronal cells. PloS One 2013; 8:e60674
- 23) El Agnaf O.M., Salem S.A., Paleologou K.E., Cooper L.J., Fullwood N.J., Gibson M.J., Curran M.D., Court J.A., Mann D.M., Ikeda S., Cookson M.R., Hardy J., Allsop D., Alpha-synuclein implicated in Parkinson's disease is present in extracellular biological fluids, including human plasma. FASEB journal, 2003; 17:1945-1947
- 24) El-Agnaf O.M., Salem S.A., Paleologou K.E., Curran M.D., Gibson M.J., Court J.A., Schlossmacher M.G., Allsop D., Detection of oligomeric forms of alphasynuclein protein in human plasma as a potential biomarker for Parkinson's disease. FASEB journal, 2006; 20:419-425
- 25) Emmanouilidou E., Elenis D., Papasilekas T., Stranjalis G., Gerozissis K., Ioannou P.C., Vekrellis K., Assessment of alpha-synuclein secretion in mouse and human brain parenchyma. PloS one, 2011; 6:e22225
- 26) Fahey J.R., Katoh H., Malcolm R., Perez A.V., The case for genetic monitoring of mice and rats used in biomedical research. Mammalian Genome 2013; 24:89-94
- 27) Farfel-Becker T., Vitner E.B., Kelly S.L., Bame J.R., Duan J., Shinder V., Merrill A.J Jr, Dobrenis K., Futerman A.H., Neuronal accumulation of glucosylceramide

in a mouse model of neuropathic Gaucher disease leads to neurodegeneration. Human Molecular Genetics 2014; 23:843-854

- 28) Forno L.S., Neuropathology of Parkinson's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 1996; 55:259-722
- 29) Fuchs J., Nilsson C., Kachergus J., Munz M., Larsson E.M., Schule B., Langston J.W., Middleton F.A., Ross O.A., Hulihan M., Gasser T., Farrer M.J., Phenotypic variation in a large Swedish pedigree due to SNCA duplication and triplication. Neurology, 2007; 68:916-922
- Fujihara H., Hasegawa M., Dohmae N., Kawashima A., Masliah E., Goldberg M.S., Shen J., Takio K., Iwatsubo T., alpha-Synuclein is phosphorylated lesions. Nature Cell Biology 2002; 4:160-164
- 31) Gao H.M., Liu B., Hong J.S., Critical role for microglial NADPH oxidase in rotenone-induced degeneration of dopaminergic neurons. Journal of Neuroscience, 2003; 23:6181-6187
- 32) Gasser T. 2009a. Genomic and proteomic biomarkers for Parkinson disease. Neurology. 72:S27-31.
- Gasser T., Molecular pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease: insights from genetic studies. Expert reviews in molecular medicine, 2009b; 11:e22
- 34) Gegg M.E., Schapira A.H., Mitochondrial dysfuntion associated with glucocerebrosidase deficiency. Neurobiology of Disease 2015; 90:43-50
- 35) Gegg M.E., Burke D., Heales S.J., Cooper J.M., Hardy J., Wood N.W., Schapira A.H., Glucocerebrosidase deficiency in substantia nigra of parkinson's disease brains. Annals of Neurology 2012; 72:455-463
- 36) George J.M., The synucleins. Genome Biology, 2002; 3:Reviews3002
- 37) Giasson B.I., Duda J.E., Quinn S.M., Zhang B., Trojanowski J.Q., Lee V.M., Neuronal alpha-synucleinopathy with severe movement disorder in mice expressing A53T human alpha-synuclein., Neuron, 2002; 34:521-533
- 38) Ginns E.I., Mak S.K., Ko N., Karlgren J., Akbarian S., Chou V.P., Guo Y., Lim A., Samuelsson S., LaMarca M.L., Neuroinflammation and alpha-synuclein accumulation in response to glucocerebrosidase deficiency are accompanied by synaptic dysfunction. Molecular Genetics of Metabolism 2014; 111:152-162
- 39) Goker-Alpan O. Schiffmann R., LaMarca M.E., Nussbaum R.L., McInerney-leo A., Sidransky E., Parkinsonism among Gaucher disease carriers. J. Med. Genet 2004; 41:937-940
- 40) Gorbatyuk O.S., Li S., Sullivan L.F., Chen W., Kondrikova G., Manfredsson F.P., Mandel R.J., Muzyczka N., The phosphorylation state of Ser-129 in human alpha-synuclein determines neurodegeneration in a rat model of Parkinson disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2008; 105:763-768
- 41) Gorbatuyk O.S., Li S., Nash K., Gorbatyuk M., Lewin A.S., Sullivan L.F., Mandel R.J., Chen W., Meyers C., Manfredsson F.P., Muzyczka N., In vivo RNAi-

mediated alpha-synuclein silencing induces nigrostriatal degeneration. Molecular Therapy 2010; 18:1450-1457

- 42)Jankovic J., Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery and psychiatry, 2008; 79:368-376
- 43) Jia F., Song N., Wang W., Du X., Chi Y., Jiang H., High dieatery iron supplement induces the nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons lesion in transgenic mice expressing mutant A53T human alpha-synuclein. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience 2018; 10:97
- 44) Johnson K.A., Conn P.J., Niswender C.M., Glutamate receptors as therapeutic targets for Parkinson's disease. CNS & neurological disorders drug targets, 2009; 8:475-491
- 45) Jungling A., Roglodi D., Karadi Z.N., Horvath G., Farkas J., Gaszner B., Tamas A., Effects of postnatal enriched environment in a model of Parkinson's disease in adult rats. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2017; 18:406
- 46) Kirik D., Georgievska B., Burger C., Winkler C., Muzyczka N., Mandel R.J., Björklund A., Reversal of motor impairments in parkinsonian rats by continuous intrastriatal delivery of L-dopa using rAAV-mediated gene transfer. PNAS 2002; 99:4708-4713
- 47) Kitada T., Asakawa S., Hattor N., Matsumine H., Yamamura Y., Minoshima S., Yokochi M., Mizuno Y., Shimizu N., Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. Nature, 1998; 392:605-608
- 48) Klein R.L., King M.A., Hamby M.E., Meyer E.M., Dopaminergic cell loss induced by human A30P alpha-synuclein gene transfer to the rat substantia nigra. Human gene therapy 2002; 13:605-612
- 49) Koros C., Simitsi A., Stefanis L., Genetics of Parkinson's Disease: Genotype-Phenotype Correlations. International Review of Neurobiology 2017; 132:193-231
- 50) Kruger R., Kuhn W., Muller T., Woitalla D., Graeber M., Kosel S., Przuntek H., Epplen J.T., Schols L., Riess O., Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alphasynuclein in Parkinson's disease. Nature genetics, 1998; 18:106-108
- 51) Lane E.L., Cheetham S.C., Jenner P., Does contraversive circling in the 6-OHDA-lesioned rat indicate an ability to induce motor complications as well as therapeutic effects in Parkinson's disease?, Experimental neurology, 2006; 197:284-290
- 52) Lashuel H.A., Overk C.R., Oueslati A., Masliah E., The many faces of alphasynuclein: from structure and toxicity to therapeutic target. Nature reviews: Neuroscience, 2013; 14:38-48
- 53) Li W., Lesuisse C., Xu Y., Troncoso J.C., Price D.L., Lee M.K., Stabilization of alpha-synuclein protein with aging and familial parkinson's disease-linked A53T mutation. Journal of Neuroscience 2004; 24:7400-7409
 - 54) Lo Bianco C., Schneider B.L., Bauer M., Sajadi A., Brice A., Iwatsubo T., Aebischer P., Lentiviral vector delivery of parkin prevents dopaminergic

degeneration in an alpha-synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease. PNAS 2004; 101:17510-17515

- 55) Luk K.C., Song C., O'Brien P., Stieber A., Branch J.R., Brunder K.R., Trojanowski J.Q., Lee V.M., Exogenous alpha-synuclein fibrils seed the formation of Lewy body-like intracellular inclusions in cultured cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2009; 106:20051-20056
- 56) Manning-Bog A.B., Schüle B., Langston J.W., Alpha-synucleinglucocerebrosidase interactions in pharmacological Gaucher models: a biological link between Gaucher disease and parkisonism. Neurotoxicity 2009; 30:1127-1132
- 57) Martin L.J., Pan Y., Price A.C., Sterling W., Coperland N.G., Jenkins N.A., Price D.L., Lee M.K., Parkinson's disease alpha-synuclein transgenic mice develop neuronal mitochondrial degeneration and cell death. Journal of Neurosciences, 2006; 26:41-50
- 58) Masliah E., Rockenstein E., Veinbergs I., Mallory M., Hashimoto M., Takeda A., Sagara Y., Sisk A., Muche L., Dopaminergic loss and inclusion body formation in alpha-synuclein mice: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. Science, 2000; 287: 1265-1269
- 59) Mazzulli J.R., Xu Y.H., Sun Y., Knight A.L., McLean P.J., Caldwell G.A., Sidrasky E., Grabowski G.A., Krainc D., Gaucher disease glucocerebrosidase and alpha-synuclein form a bidirection pathogenic loop in synucleinopathies. Cell 2011; 146:37-52
- 60) McCann H., Stevens C.J., Cartwright H., Halliday G.M., α-synucleinopathy phenotypes. Parkinsonism Related Disorders, 2014; Supp162-67
- 61) Muntane G., Ferrer I., Martinez-Vicente M., Alpha-synuclein phosphorylation and truncation are normal events in the adult human brain. Neuroscience, 2012; 200:106-119
- 62) Nalls M.A, Plagnol V., Hernandez D.G., Sharma M., Sheerin U.M., Saad M., Simon-Sanchez J., Schulte C., Lesage S., Sveinbjornsdottir S., Stefansson K., Martinez M., Hardy J., Heutink P., Brice A., Gasser T., Singleton A.B., Wood N.W., Imputation of sequence variants for identification of genetic risks for Parkinso's disease: a meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies. Lancet 2011; 377:641-649
- 63) Neumann J., Bras J., Deas E., O'Sullivan S.S., Parkkinen L., Lachmann R.H., Glucocerebrosidase mutations in clinical and pathologically proven Parkinson's disease. Brain 2009; 132:1783-1794
- 64) Noelker C., Lu L., Höllerhage M., Vulinovic F., Sturn A., Roscher R., Höglinger G.U., Hirsch E.C., Oertel W.H., Alvarez-Fischer D., Andreas H., Glucocerebrosidase deficiency and mitochondrial impairment in experimental Parkinson disease. Journal of Neurological Sciences 2015; 356:129-136

- 65) Nuber S., Harmuth F., Kohl Z., Adame A., Trejo M., Scho K., Zimmermann F., Bauer C., Casadei N., Giel., Calaminus C., Pichler B.J., Jensen P.H., Mu C.P., Amato D., Kornhuber J., Teismann P., Yamakado H., Takahashi R., Winkler J., Masliah E., Riess O., A progressive dopaminergic phenotype associated with neurotoxic conversion of α-synuclein in BAC-transgenic rats. Brain 2013; 136:412-432
- 66) Pacheco C., Aguayo L.G., Opazo C., An extracellular mechanism that can explain the neurotoxic effects of alpha-synuclein aggregates in the brain., Frontiers in physiology, 2012; 3:297
- 67) Papadopoulos V.E., Nikolopoulou G., Antoniadou I., Karachaliou A., Arianoglou G., Emmanouilidiou E., Sardi S.P., Stefanis L., Vekrellis K., Modulation of β-glucocerebrosidase increases α-synuclein secretion and exosome release in mouse models of Parkinson's disease. Human Molecular Genetics 2018; 27:1696-1710
- 68) Polymeropoulos M.H., Lavedan C., Leroy E., Ide S.E., Dehejia A., Dutra A., Pikes B., Root H., Rubenstein J., Boyer R., Stenroos S.E., Chandrasekharappa S., Athanassiadou A., Papapetropoulos T., Johnson W.G., Lazzarini A.M., Duvoisin R.C., Di Iorio G., Golbe L.I., Nussbaum R.L., Mutation in the alphasynuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. Science, 1997; 276:2045-2047
- 69) Przedborski S., Jackson-Lewis V., Naini A.B., Jakowec M., PetringerG., Miller R., The parkinsonian toxin 1-methy-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP): a technical review of its utility and safety. Journal of Neurochemistry, 2001; 76:1265-1274
- 70) Qi X., Grabowski G.A., Molecular and cell biology of acid beta-glucosidase and prosaposin. Progress in Nucleic Acid Research and Molecular Biology 2001; 66:203-239
- 71) Rockenstein E., Clarke J., Viel C., Panarello N., Treleaven C.M., Kim C., Spencer B., Adame A., Dodge J.C., Cheng S.H., Shihabuddin L.S., Masliah E., Sardi S.P., Glucocerebrosidase modulates cognitive and motor activities in murine models of Parkinson's disease. Human Molecular Genetics 2016; 25:2645-2660
- 72) Sampson T.R., Debelius J.W., Thron T., Janssen S., Shastri G.G., Ilhan Z.E., Challis C., Schretter C.E., Rocha S., Gradinaru V., Chesselet M.F., Keshavarzian A., Shannon K.M., Krajmalnik-Brown R., Wittung-Stafshede P., Knight R., Mazmanian S.K., Gut microbiota regulat motor deficits and neuroinflammation in a model of Parkinson's disease. Cell 2016; 67:1469-1480
- 73) Sardi S.P., Clarke J., Viel C., Chan M., Tamsett T.J., Treleaven C.M., Bu J., Sweet L., Passini M.A., Dodge J.C., Yu W.H., Sidman R.L., Cheng S.J., Shihabuddin L.S., Augmenting CNS glucocerebrosidase activity as a therapeutic strategy for parkinsonism and other Gaucher-related synucleinopathies.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2013; 110: 3537-3542

- 74) Sardi S.P., Cheng H., Shihabuddin LS., Gaucher-related synucleinopathies: The examination of sporadic neurodegeneration from a rare (disease) angle. Progress in Neurobiology 2015; 125:47-62
- 75) Sardi S.P., Viel C., Clarke J., Treleaven C.M., Richards A.M., Park H., Olszewski M.A., Dodge J.C., Marshall J., Makino E., Wang B., Sidman R.L., Cheng S.H., Shihabuddin L.S., Glucosylceramide synthase inhibition alleviates aberrations in synucleinopathy models. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2017; 114:2699-2704
- 76) Sardi S.P., Clarke J., Kinnecom C., Tamsett T.J., Li L., Stanek L.M., Passin M.A., Grabowski G.A., Schlossmacher M.G., Sidman R.L., Cheng S.H., Shihabuddin L.S., CNS expression of glucoserebrosidase corrects α-synuclein pathology and memory in mouse model of Gaucher-related synucleinopathy. PNAS 2011; 108:12101-12106
- 77) Schondorf D.C., Aureli M., McAllister F.E., Hindley C.J., Mayer F., Schmid B., Sardi S.P., Valsecchi M., Hoffmann S., Schwarz L.K., Hedrich U., Berg D., Shihabuddin L.S., Hu J., Pruszak J., Gygi S.P., Sonnino S., Gasser T., Deleidi M., iPSC-derived neurons from GBA1-associated Parkinson's disease patients show autophagic defects and impaired calcium homeostasis. Nature Communications 2014 6:4028
- 78) Shafit-Zagardo B., Devine E.A., Smith M., Arredondo-Vega F., Desnick R.J., Assignment of the gene for acid beta-glucosidase to human chromosome 1. American Journal of Human Genetics 1981; 33:564-675
- 79) Sidransky E., Gaucher disease and parkinsonism. Molecular genetics and metabolism, 2005; 84:302-204
- 80) Sidransky E., Lopez G., The link between the GBA gene and parkinsonism. Lancet neurology, 2012; 11:986:998
- 81) Singleton A.B., Farrer M., Johnson J., Singleton A., Hague S., Kachergus J., Hulihan M., Peuralinna T., Dutra A., Nussbaum R., Lincoln S., Crawley A., Hanson M., Maraganore D., Adler C., Cookson M.R., Muenter M., Baptista M., Miller D., Blancato J., Hardy J., Gwinn-Hardy K., Alpha-synuclein locus triplacation causes Parkinson's disease. Science, 2003; 302:841
- 82) Smith L., Mullin S., Schapira A.H.V., Insights into the structural biology of Gaucher disease. Experimental Neurology 2017; 298:180-190
- 83)Spillantini M.G., Divane A., Goedert M., Assignment of human alpha-synuclein (SNCA) and beta-synuclein (SNCB) genes to chromosomes 4q21 and 5q35. Genomics, 1995; 27:379-381
- 84) Spillantini M.G., Schmidt M.L., Lee V.M., Trojanowski Q.M., Jakes R., Goedert M., Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. Nature, 1997; 388:839-840
- 85) Sutherland G.T., Halliday G.M., Silburn P.A., Mastaglia F.L., Rowe D.B., Boyle R.S., O'Sullivan J.D., Ly T., Wilton S.D., Mellick G.D., Do polymorphisms in the

familial Parkinsonism genes contribute to risk for sporadic Parkinson's disease?, Movement Disorders, 2009; 24:833-838

- 86) Thiruchelvam M., Richfield E.K., Baggs R.B., Tank A.W., Cory-Slechta D.A., The nigrostriatal dopaminergic system as a preferential target of repeated exposures of combined paraquat and maneb: implications for Parkinson's disease. Journal of Neuroscience, 2000; 20:9207-9214
- 87) Tofaris G.K., Spillantini M.G., Alpha-synuclein dysfunction in Lewy body diseases. Movement Disorders, 2005; 12:37-44
- 88) Tysnes OB, StorsteinA., Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease., Journal of Neural Transmission (Vienna), 2017; 124:901-905
- 89) Uversky V.N., A protein-chameleon: conformational plasticity of alpha-synuclein, a dosordered protein involved in neurodegenerative disorders. Journal of biomolecular structure & dynamics, 2003; 21:211-234
- 90) Valente E.M., Salvi S., Ialong T., Marongiu R., Elia A.E., Caputo V., Romito L., Albanese A., Dallapiccola B., Bentivoglio A.R., PINK1 mutations are associated with sporadic early-onset parkinsonism. Ann Neurol, 2004; 56:336-341
- 91) Vekrellis K., Rideout H.J., Stefanis L., Neurobiology of alpha-synuclein. Molecular neurobiology, 2004; 30-1-21
- 92) Vekrellis K., Xilouri M., Emmanouilidou E., Stefanis L., Inducible overexpression of wild type alpha-synuclein in human neuronal cells leads to caspase-dependent non-apoptotic death. Journal of neurochemistry, 2009; 109:1348-1362
- 93) Vekrellis K., Xilouri M., Emmanouilidou E., Rideout H.J., Stefanis L., Pathological roles of alpha-synuclein in neurological disorders, Lancet, 2011; 10:1015-1025
- 94) Voreades N., Kozil A., Weir T.L., Diet and the development of the human intestinal microbiome. Frontiers in Microbiology 2014; 5:494
- 95) Wang W., Perovic., Chittuluru J., Kaganovic A., Nguyen T., Liao J., Auclair J.R., Johnson D., Landeru A., Simorellis A.K., Ju S., Cookson M.R., Asturias F.J., Agar J.N., Webb B.N., Kang C., Ringe D., Petsko G.A., Pochapsky T.C., Joang Q.Q., A soluble alpha-synuclein construct forms a dynimic tetramer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2011; 108-17797-17802
- 96) Yamada M., Iwatsubo T., Mizuno Y., Mochizuki H., Overexpression of alphasynuclein in rat substantia nigra results in loss of dopaminergic neuronrs, phosphorylation of alpha-synuclein and activation of caspase-9: resemblance to pathogenic changes in Parkinson's disease. Journal of Neurochemistry 2004; 91:451-461
- 97) Yamakodo H., Moriwaki Y., Yamasaki N., Miyakawa T., Kurisu J., Uemura K., Inoue H., Takahashi M., Takahashi R., Synuclein BAC transgenic mice as a model for Parkinson's disease manifested decreased anxiety-like behavior and hyperlocomotion. Neuroscience research 2012; 73:173-177

- 98) Yap T.L., Gruschus J.M., Velayati A., Westbroek W., Goldin E., Moaven N., Sidransky E., Lee J.C., Alpha-synuclein interacts with glucocerebrosidase proving a molecular link between Parkinson and Gaucher diseases. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2011; 286:28080-28088
- 99) Xu Y.H., Sun Y., Ran H., Quinn B., Witte D., Grabowski G.A., Accumulation and distribution of α-synuclein and ubiquitin in the CNS of Gaucher disease mouse models. Mol Geneti Metab 2012; 102:436-447
- 100) Zarranz J.J., Alegre J., Gomez-Esteban J.C., Lezcano E., Ros R., Ampuero I., Vidal L., Hoenicka J., Rodriguez O., Atares B., Llorens V., Gomez Tortosa E., del Ser T., Munoz D.G., de Yebenes J.G., The new mutation, E46K, of alpha-synuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. Ann Neurol, 2004; 55:164-173